PUBLISHED BY INSTITUTE OF PHYSICS PUBLISHING FOR SISSA

RECEIVED: July 14, 2008 REVISED: August 26, 2008 ACCEPTED: September 15, 2008 PUBLISHED: September 23, 2008

Deep inelastic scattering from gauge string duality in D3-D7 brane model

C.A. Ballon Bayona, Henrique Boschi-Filho and Nelson R.F. Braga

Instituto de Física, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Caixa Postal 68528, RJ, 21941-972 - Brazil E-mail: ballon@if.ufrj.br, boschi@if.ufrj.br, braga@if.ufrj.br

ABSTRACT: We calculate deep inelastic structure functions for mesons in the D3-D7 brane model, that incorporates flavour to the AdS/CFT correspondence. We consider two different prescriptions for the hadronic current dual: a gauge field in the AdS bulk and a gauge field on the D7 brane. We also calculate elastic form factors in both cases. We compare our results with other holographic models.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Deep Inelastic Scattering, Gauge-gravity correspondence.

Contents

Introduction	1
Deep Inelastic Scattering in the hard and soft wall models	2
2.1 DIS in the hard wall model	3
2.2 DIS in the soft wall model	4
DIS in D3-D7 system	4
3.1 Gauge field in the AdS bulk	6
3.2 Gauge field on the D7 brane	7
Comparison of the models	9
Elastic form factors	10
Conclusions	12
Calculations of the structure functions and form factors	13
A.1 Gauge field in the bulk	13
A.2 Gauge field on the brane	14
	Introduction Deep Inelastic Scattering in the hard and soft wall models 2.1 DIS in the hard wall model 2.2 DIS in the soft wall model DIS in D3-D7 system 3.1 Gauge field in the AdS bulk 3.2 Gauge field on the D7 brane Comparison of the models Elastic form factors Conclusions Calculations of the structure functions and form factors A.1 Gauge field in the bulk A.2 Gauge field on the brane

1. Introduction

The AdS/CFT correspondence [1-3] relates string theory to superconformal gauge theories at large 't Hooft coupling. In particular string theory in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ corresponds to a gauge theory on the four dimensional boundary. This exact correspondence inspired many interesting phenomenological models known as AdS/QCD that approximately describe important aspects of hadronic physics.

One of the simplest models, now called hard wall model, consists in breaking conformal invariance by introducing a hard cut off in the AdS space. The position of the cut off represents an infrared mass scale for the gauge theory. This model was very successful in reproducing the scaling of hadronic scattering amplitudes at fixed angles from strings in AdS space [4]. This result was also obtained from this model using a map between bulk and boundary states in [5]. String theory predictions in flat space [6] were in contrast to the experimentally observed behavior, obtained from QCD a long time ago [7, 8]. The AdS warp factor is crucial to find the correct hard scattering behavior. The hard wall model was also useful to estimate hadronic masses [9-14].

Another interesting model inspired in AdS/CFT is the soft wall, that consists of a background including AdS space and a dilaton field. This field acts effectively as a smooth

infrared cut off and leads to linear Regge trajectories for mesons [15]. This model was also used to calculate masses for glueballs [16] and light scalar mesons [17].

In the AdS/CFT correspondence for the case of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ space, the fields show up as excitations of open strings attached to N_c D3 branes. So, they are in the adjoint representation of the SU(N_c) group. In order to introduce fields that are in the fundamental representation, like quarks, one can add N_f D7 brane probes in the space [18–20]. In this D3-D7 branes model, open strings with an endpoint on a D3 and the other on a D7 brane represent quarks with color and flavour. On the other side, mesons are described by strings with both endpoints on D7 branes. So, they correspond to D7 brane fluctuations in the AdS background. Masses for mesons in this model were calculated in [19]. For an excellent review see: [21].

The internal structure of hadrons can be probed by various interaction processes. A very important one is deep inelastic scattering (DIS). This process was investigated using gauge/string duality by Polchinski and Strassler [22] in the context of the hard wall model. Recently a similar investigation using the soft wall model was made in [23]. The hadronic structure functions found from the hard and soft wall models are different, although they coincide at leading order. It is interesting to remark that hadronic elastic form factors obtained from these models [25-28] are not the same. Other aspects of DIS structure functions and related hadronic processes from AdS/QCD have been recently discussed in for example [29-34].

The hard and soft wall model do not take into account the flavour degrees of freedom. Here we will consider deep inelastic scattering using the D3-D7 brane model, where the flavour of the quarks is included. Elastic form factors in this model were calculated in [20, 35].

This work is organized as follows: in section 2 we review deep inelastic scattering in the hard and soft wall models. In section 3 we briefly describe the D3-D7 model and calculate the structure functions for scalar mesons considering two cases: the gauge field living in the entire AdS bulk and the gauge field constrained to the D7 brane. We present in section 4 several plots comparing the structure functions of the four models considered in this article. In section 5 we calculate the elastic form factors for both cases and in section 6 we present our conclusions.

2. Deep Inelastic Scattering in the hard and soft wall models

In deep inelastic scattering (DIS) a lepton scatters from a hadron of momentum P^{μ} through the exchange of a virtual photon of momentum q^{μ} . The final hadronic state X with momentum P_X^{μ} is not observed. Then cross section involves a sum over all possible X. The DIS parameters are q^2 and the Bjorken parameter $x \equiv -q^2/2P \cdot q$.

The DIS cross section is calculated from the hadronic tensor

$$W^{\mu\nu} = i \int d^4 y e^{iq \cdot y} \langle P, \mathcal{Q} | \left[J^{\mu}(y), J^{\nu}(0) \right] | P, \mathcal{Q} \rangle, \qquad (2.1)$$

where $J^{\mu}(y)$ is the electromagnetic hadron current and Q is the electric charge of the initial hadron. The structure functions $F_1(x, q^2)$ and $F_2(x, q^2)$ are defined by the tensor

decomposition for the spinless case [24]

$$W^{\mu\nu} = F_1(x,q^2) \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{q^{\mu}q^{\nu}}{q^2} \right) + \frac{2x}{q^2} F_2(x,q^2) \left(P^{\mu} + \frac{q^{\mu}}{2x} \right) \left(P^{\nu} + \frac{q^{\nu}}{2x} \right), \qquad (2.2)$$

where we use the convention $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-, +, +, +)$.

On the other hand, the DIS cross section is related, by the optical theorem, to the forward hadron-photon Compton scattering amplitude, determined by the tensor

$$T^{\mu\nu} = i \int d^4 y e^{iq \cdot y} \langle P, \mathcal{Q} | \mathcal{T} \Big(J^{\mu}(y) J^{\nu}(0) \Big) | P, \mathcal{Q} \rangle .$$
(2.3)

This tensor can be decomposed in the same way as equation (2.2) but with structure functions $\tilde{F}_1(x,q^2)$ and $\tilde{F}_2(x,q^2)$ which are related to the DIS structure functions by

$$F_{1,2}(x,q^2) \equiv 2\pi \text{Im}\tilde{F}_{1,2}(x,q^2).$$
(2.4)

The imaginary part of the forward Compton scattering amplitude can be expressed in terms of a sum over the intermediate states X with mass M_X

$$\operatorname{Im}T^{\mu\nu} = 2\pi^2 \sum_{X} \delta\Big(M_X^2 + (P+q)^2\Big) \langle P, \mathcal{Q}|J^{\nu}(0)|P+q, X\rangle \langle P+q, X|J^{\mu}(0)|P, \mathcal{Q}\rangle .$$
(2.5)

2.1 DIS in the hard wall model

The hard wall model consists of an $AdS_5 \times W$, space with metric g_{MN} :

$$ds^{2} \equiv g_{MN} dx^{M} dx^{N} = \frac{R^{2}}{z^{2}} (dz^{2} + \eta_{\mu\nu} dy^{\mu} dy^{\nu}) + R^{2} ds_{W}^{2}, \qquad (2.6)$$

with $0 \le z \le 1/\Lambda$, where Λ is an infrared cut off interpreted as the QCD scale and R is the AdS radius defined by $R^4 = 4\pi N_c g_s {\alpha'}^2$. W is a five dimensional compact space which in the simplest case can be identified with S^5 . The prescription relating the matrix elements of a scalar hadronic U(1) current to a ten dimensional supergravity interaction action found in [22] is the following:

$$(2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (P_X - P - q) \eta_\mu \langle P + q, X | J^\mu(0) | P, Q \rangle = i Q \int d^{10} x \sqrt{-g} A^{\mathbb{m}} \left(\Phi_i \partial_{\mathbb{m}} \Phi_X^* - \Phi_X^* \partial_{\mathbb{m}} \Phi_i \right),$$
(2.7)

where η_{μ} is the virtual photon polarization, $A_{\mathbb{m}}(x) = (A_z, A_{\mu})$ is a Kaluza-Klein gauge field, Φ_i and Φ_X are the dilaton fields representing the initial and final scalar states. This prescription is valid only in the regime $x \gg 1/\sqrt{gN_c}$. For smaller values of x one should include massive string states, as discussed in [22].

In the hard wall model the relevant gauge field solutions are the non-normalizable modes represented in terms of the Bessel function $K_1(qz)$. For the scalar states with momentum p the relevant solutions are normalizable and expressed in terms of $J_{\Delta-2}(pz)$. The mass spectrum of the final hadronic states in the hard wall implies that

$$\sum_{X} \delta \left(M_X^2 + (P+q)^2 \right) = \frac{1}{2\pi s^{1/2} \Lambda} \,. \tag{2.8}$$

Using these results, the scalar structure functions in the hard wall model at leading order in Λ^2/q^2 take the form [22]:

$$F_1(x,q^2) = 0; \quad F_2(x,q^2) = \pi C_0 \mathcal{Q}^2 \left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{q^2}\right)^{\Delta - 1} x^{\Delta + 1} (1-x)^{\Delta - 2}, \quad (2.9)$$

where C_0 is a dimensionless normalization constant and Δ is the scaling dimension of the scalar state.

2.2 DIS in the soft wall model

In the soft wall model [15] there is an AdS_5 space with a static dilaton background field φ chosen as $\varphi = cz^2$. This dilaton acts as an infrared cut off. The constant c, with dimension of mass squared, is related to the QCD scale.

In [23] we considered a ten dimensional extension of this model. In this case, the prescription for the supergravity regime is

$$(2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (P_X - P - q) \eta_\mu \langle P + q, X | J^\mu(0) | P, \mathcal{Q} \rangle = i \mathcal{Q} \int d^{10} x \sqrt{-g} e^{-\varphi} A^{\mathfrak{m}} \Big(\Phi_i \partial_{\mathfrak{m}} \Phi_X^* - \Phi_X^* \partial_{\mathfrak{m}} \Phi_i \Big) .$$

$$(2.10)$$

The soft wall solutions for the gauge and scalar field involve confluent hypergeometric functions $\mathcal{U}(1 + \frac{q^2}{4c}; 2; cz^2)$ and $\mathcal{M}(\frac{p^2}{4c} + \frac{\Delta}{2}; \Delta - 1; cz^2)$, respectively, with p = P or P_X . The mass spectrum of the final hadronic states implies that in the soft wall model

$$\sum_{X} \delta \left(M_X^2 + (P+q)^2 \right) = \frac{1}{4c}.$$
 (2.11)

Using these results, we found

$$F_1 = 0; \ F_2 = 8\pi^3 \frac{Q^2}{x} (\Delta - 1) \Gamma(\Delta) \left[\frac{q^2}{4c} \right]^3 \frac{\Gamma(\frac{s}{4c} + \frac{\Delta}{2} - 1)}{\Gamma(\frac{s}{4c} - \frac{\Delta}{2} + 1)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\frac{q^2}{4c} + \frac{s}{4c} - \frac{\Delta}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{q^2}{4c} + \frac{s}{4c} + \frac{\Delta}{2})} \right]^2, \quad (2.12)$$

which agrees at leading order in $4c/q^2$ with the hard wall structure functions (2.9) as shown in [23].

3. DIS in D3-D7 system

The D3-D7 system consists of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ space with the addition of N_f coincident D7 brane probes. The localization of the D7 branes can be represented by writing the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ metric in spherical coordinates:

$$ds_{10}^{2} \equiv g_{MN} dx^{M} dx^{N} = \frac{r^{2}}{R^{2}} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + \frac{R^{2}}{r^{2}} \Big[dr^{2} + r^{2} [d\tilde{\theta_{1}}^{2} + \sin^{2} \tilde{\theta_{1}} d\tilde{\theta_{2}}^{2} \Big].$$
(3.1)

The radial coordinate $0 \le r < \infty$ is related to the coordinate z used in eq. (2.6) by: $r = R^2/z$. Now defining the cilyndrical coordinates

$$\rho \equiv r \sin \tilde{\theta_1} \sin \tilde{\theta_2}, w_5 \equiv r \sin \tilde{\theta_1} \cos \tilde{\theta_2}, w_6 \equiv r \cos \tilde{\theta_1}, \qquad (3.2)$$

the metric is rewritten as

$$ds_{10}^2 = \frac{\rho^2 + w_5^2 + w_6^2}{R^2} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + \frac{R^2}{\rho^2 + w_5^2 + w_6^2} \Big[dw_5^2 + dw_6^2 + d\rho^2 + \rho^2 d\Omega_3^2 \Big] , \quad (3.3)$$

where $d\Omega_3^2 = d\theta_1^2 + \sin^2 \theta_1 d\theta_2^2 + \sin^2 \theta_1 \sin^2 \theta_2 d\varphi^2$.

In these new coordinates, the localization of the D7 branes can be chosen as $w_5 = 0$, $w_6 = L$. The metric induced on the brane is then

$$ds_8^2 = G_{ab}dx^a dx^b = \frac{\rho^2 + L^2}{R^2} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^\mu dx^\nu + \frac{R^2}{\rho^2 + L^2} (d\rho^2 + \rho^2 d\Omega_3^2) .$$
(3.4)

Note that $\rho^2 + L^2 = r^2$ so that the AdS radial coordinate r on the brane is restricted to $L \leq r < \infty$. This corresponds to an induced infrared cut off: $m_h = L/R^2$.

Scalar mesons in this model show up as fluctuations of the D7 branes in the transversal directions w_5 , w_6 . For simplicity we are going to consider just one flavour: $N_f = 1$. The effective action for these fields is [19]

$$S_{\phi} = -2\mu_7 (R\pi\alpha')^2 \int d^8x \sqrt{-G} \frac{G^{ab}}{\rho^2 + L^2} \partial_a \phi^* \partial_b \phi$$
(3.5)

where μ_7 is the D7-brane tension. It is convenient to rescale from now on the scalar field as $\Phi = \sqrt{2\mu_7}R\pi\alpha'\phi$. Then the equation of motion is

$$\partial_a \left[\frac{\sqrt{-G}}{\rho^2 + L^2} G^{ab} \partial_b \Phi \right] = 0.$$
(3.6)

The solution is written in terms of a hypergeometric function F(a, b; c; w)

$$\Phi_{n,\ell} = C_{n,\ell} e^{ip \cdot y} \mathcal{Y}^{\ell}(\Omega) \frac{(\rho/L)^{\ell}}{[1 + \frac{\rho^2}{L^2}]^{n+\ell+1}} F\left(-n - \ell - 1, -n; \ell+2; -\frac{\rho^2}{L^2}\right)$$
(3.7)

where $C_{n,\ell}$ is a normalization constant, Ω represents the coordinates on S^3 , $\ell(\ell+2)$ is the eigenvalue of the angular laplacian, related to the conformal dimension Δ of the hadron by: $\Delta = \ell + 3$ [19]. The parameter n is defined by $-p^2 = 4m_h^2[(n+\ell+1)(n+\ell+2)]$.

Choosing the normalization condition

$$R \int d\rho d^3 \Omega \frac{\sqrt{-G}}{(\rho^2 + L^2)^2} |\Phi|^2 = 1, \qquad (3.8)$$

we find that n is a non negative integer and that

$$C_{n,\ell} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{R}} \sqrt{\frac{2(2n+2\ell+3)\Gamma(n+2\ell+3)}{\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma^2(\ell+2)}}.$$
(3.9)

The scalar field representing the initial state corresponds to n = 0 and p = P with mass given by $P^2 = -4m_h^2[(\ell + 1)(\ell + 2)]$. For the final state we have $p = P_X$ and n satisfying the relation:

$$4m_h^2[(n+\ell+1)(n+\ell+2)] = s = -P_X^2 = -P^2 + q^2\left(\frac{1}{x} - 1\right).$$
(3.10)

Explicitly, the initial and final hadronic solutions are respectively

$$\Phi_{i} = C_{0,\ell} e^{ip \cdot y} \mathcal{Y}^{\ell}(\Omega) \frac{(\rho/L)^{\ell}}{[1 + \frac{\rho^{2}}{L^{2}}]^{\ell+1}}$$

$$\Phi_{X} = C_{n,\ell} e^{ip \cdot y} \mathcal{Y}^{\ell}(\Omega) \frac{(\rho/L)^{\ell}}{[1 + \frac{\rho^{2}}{L^{2}}]^{n+\ell+1}} F\left(-n - \ell - 1, -n; \ell + 2; -\frac{\rho^{2}}{L^{2}}\right).$$
(3.11)

Finally, using eq. (3.10) we can calculate the sum over the masses of the final states appearing in eq. (2.5) for the D3-D7 model:

$$\sum_{X} \delta \left(M_X^2 + (P+q)^2 \right) \approx \frac{1}{4m_h^2 (2n+2\ell+3)} = \frac{1}{4m_h \sqrt{s+m_h^2}}.$$
 (3.12)

Next we consider a gauge field ("photon") that will be taken as the approximate dual of the boundary hadronic current. We will consider two possibilities to mimic this current: a gauge field living in the AdS bulk and a gauge field living on the D7 brane.

3.1 Gauge field in the AdS bulk

The interaction of the meson with the virtual photon can be represented holographically by the interaction of a Kaluza Klein gauge field with the D7 brane scalar field. A perturbation of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ metric of the form $\delta g_{m\alpha} = A_m v_{\alpha}$, where $m = (r, \mu)$ and $\alpha = (\theta_1, \theta_2, \phi)$ induces a perturbation of the D7 brane metric of the form $\delta G_{\tilde{m}\alpha} = A_{\tilde{m}}v_{\alpha}$, where $\tilde{m} = (\rho, \mu)$ and $A_{\rho} = \rho/rA_r$. This metric perturbation in action (3.5) leads to the following interaction term

$$S_{\rm int} = \int d^8 x \sqrt{-G} \frac{v^{\alpha} A^{\tilde{m}}}{\rho^2 + L^2} \Big(\partial_{\alpha} \Phi^* \partial_{\tilde{m}} \Phi + \partial_{\tilde{m}} \Phi^* \partial_{\alpha} \Phi \Big) \,. \tag{3.13}$$

Using the relation between the charge Q and the Killing vector v^{α} : $Rv^{\alpha}\partial_{\alpha}\Phi = iQ\Phi$ the matrix element of the interaction action $\langle f|S_{\text{int}}|i\rangle$ takes the form (omitting the states in the notation)

$$\langle S_{\rm int} \rangle = \frac{i\mathcal{Q}}{R} \int d^8 x \sqrt{-G} A^{\tilde{m}} j_{\tilde{m}} , \qquad (3.14)$$

where

$$j_{\tilde{m}} = \frac{1}{\rho^2 + L^2} \left(\Phi_i \partial_{\tilde{m}} \Phi_X^* - (\partial_{\tilde{m}} \Phi_i) \Phi_X^* \right).$$
(3.15)

is a five dimensional conserved current. The prescription for calculating the matrix element of the hadronic current is

$$(2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (P_X - P - q) \eta_\mu \langle P + q, X | J^\mu(0) | P, \mathcal{Q} \rangle$$

= $\frac{i\mathcal{Q}}{R} \int d^8 x \sqrt{-G} A^{\tilde{m}} \frac{1}{\rho^2 + L^2} \left(\Phi_i \partial_{\tilde{m}} \Phi_X^* - \Phi_X^* \partial_{\tilde{m}} \Phi_i \right).$ (3.16)

The solution for the gauge field in the bulk, satisfying the boundary condition $A_{\mu}(\rho \rightarrow \infty, y) = \eta_{\mu} e^{iq \cdot y}$ can be written as [29]

$$A_{\mu} = \eta_{\mu} e^{iq \cdot y} q \frac{R^2}{r} K_1 \left(q \frac{R^2}{r} \right)$$
$$A_{\rho} = -\frac{i}{q^2} \eta^{\mu\nu} q_{\mu} \partial_{\rho} A_{\nu} , \qquad (3.17)$$

where $q = \sqrt{q^2}$ and $r = \sqrt{\rho^2 + L^2}$. The conservation of the current: $\partial_{\tilde{m}} \left[\sqrt{-G} G^{\tilde{m}\tilde{n}} j_{\tilde{n}} \right] = 0$ implies that the interaction action can be rewritten as

$$\langle S_{\rm int} \rangle = \frac{i\mathcal{Q}}{R} \int d^8 x \sqrt{-G} G^{\mu\nu} A_{\mu} \left(j_{\nu} - \frac{i}{q^2} q_{\nu} \eta^{\lambda\gamma} \partial_{\lambda} j_{\gamma} \right). \tag{3.18}$$

The effective four dimensional current $j_{\nu} - \frac{i}{q^2} q_{\nu} \eta^{\lambda \gamma} \partial_{\lambda} j_{\gamma}$ is conserved. This assures the transversality of the scattering tensor.

The matrix element of the hadronic current then takes the form

$$\langle P+q, X|J^{\mu}(0)|P, \mathcal{Q}\rangle = 2\mathcal{Q}RC_{0,\ell}C_{n,\ell}\frac{q}{m_h}\left[p^{\mu} + \frac{q^{\mu}}{2x}\right]\mathcal{I}_{\text{bulk}}$$
(3.19)

where

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{bulk}} = \int_0^1 dv v^2 (1-v^2)^{\ell+1} K_1(\frac{qv}{m_h}) F(-n-\ell-1, n+\ell+2; \ell+2; 1-v^2)$$
(3.20)

and $v = \frac{L}{\sqrt{\rho^2 + L^2}}$. Using these results and equations (2.4), (2.5) and (3.12), we find

$$F_1 = 0; F_2 = 8\pi^3 \mathcal{Q}^2 \frac{\Gamma(2\ell+4)}{\Gamma^4(\ell+2)} \frac{\Gamma(n+2\ell+3)}{\Gamma(n+1)} \left(\frac{q^2}{m_h^2}\right)^2 \frac{\mathcal{I}_{\text{bulk}}^2}{x}.$$
 (3.21)

We did not find a general analytical solution to the integral $\mathcal{I}_{\text{bulk}}$ of eq. (3.20). Nevertheless, near the elastic limit $x \to 1$ we performed an analytical approximation, described in the appendix, and found, for $q^2 \gg m_h^2$

$$F_2 \sim \left(\frac{4m_h^2}{q^2}\right)^{\ell+2} (1-x)^{\ell+1} = \left(\frac{4m_h^2}{q^2}\right)^{\Delta-1} (1-x)^{\Delta-2}, \qquad (3.22)$$

which agrees with the hard and soft wall model results in this regime.

We also performed numerical calculation of the exact integral of eq. (3.20) in order to investigate the dependence of the structure function F_2 on q^2 and x. For the case $\ell = 0$ in the range 0.25 < x < 1 with $q^2 \gg m_h^2$ we found that the structure function F_2 has the approximate behaviour:

$$F_2 \sim \left(\frac{4m_h^2}{q^2}\right)^{\ell+2} (1-x)^{\ell+1} x^{\ell+4} = \left(\frac{4m_h^2}{q^2}\right)^{\Delta-1} (1-x)^{\Delta-2} x^{\Delta+1}.$$
 (3.23)

For $\ell = 1$ this behaviour is observed in the range 0.25 < x < 0.9. These results are the same found for the hard and soft wall models at leading order.

In section 4 we plot the structure function (3.21) comparing it with the other models.

3.2 Gauge field on the D7 brane

In reference [19], solutions for gauge fields living on the D7 brane were studied. These solutions were obtained from the Dirac-Born-Infeld action for the D7 brane. They obtained various types of gauge field solutions. Here we are interested in solutions for transverse photons of the form

$$A_{\mu} = \eta_{\mu} e^{iq \cdot y} f(\rho) \; ; \; q \cdot \eta = 0 \; ; \; A_{\rho} = 0 \; ; \; A_{\alpha} = 0 \; , \qquad (3.24)$$

where $f(\rho)$ satisfies the equation

$$-\frac{q^2}{m_h^2} \frac{1}{(\zeta^2 + 1)^2} f + \frac{1}{\zeta^3} \partial_{\zeta} \left(\zeta^3 \partial_{\zeta} f \right) = 0$$
(3.25)

with $\zeta = \rho/L$. This corresponds to the type II gauge field of ref [19], with no angular dependence. The non normalizable solution of the above equation is

$$f(w) = C_q F(-\alpha, 1+\alpha; 2; w)$$
 (3.26)

where

$$\alpha = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{i}{2}\sqrt{\frac{q^2}{m_h^2} - 1}; \qquad w = \frac{\rho^2}{\rho^2 + L^2}; \qquad C_q = \Gamma(2+\alpha)\,\Gamma(1-\alpha)\,. \tag{3.27}$$

The constant C_q is determined from the boundary condition: $A_{\mu}(w \to 1) = \eta_{\mu} e^{iq \cdot y}$. This gauge field solution is dual to the boundary flavour current. It is important to remark that despite the fact that α is a complex variable, this solution is real since it depends only on the combination $\alpha(\alpha + 1) = -\frac{q^2}{4m_{\mu}^2}$.

The interaction between this gauge field and the scalar field that lives also on the D7 brane can be obtained by imposing gauge invariance of the scalar action of eq. (3.5) by introducing covariant derivatives (and again the rescaling $\Phi = \sqrt{2\mu_7}R\pi\alpha'\phi$)

$$S_{\Phi} = -\int d^8x \sqrt{-G} \frac{G^{ab}}{\rho^2 + L^2} \nabla_a \Phi^* \nabla_b \Phi, \qquad (3.28)$$

where $\nabla_a = \partial_a - i \frac{Q}{R} A_a$. From this action we obtain the three point interaction term

$$\langle S_{\rm int} \rangle = i \frac{\mathcal{Q}}{R} \int d^8 x \sqrt{-G} G^{\mu\nu} A_\mu \frac{1}{\rho^2 + L^2} \Big(\Phi_i \partial_\nu \Phi_X^* - \Phi_X^* \partial_\nu \Phi_i \Big), \tag{3.29}$$

where we have used the fact that the radial and angular components of the gauge field vanish (see eq. (3.24)). Following a prescription similar to eq. (3.16) we find

$$\langle P+q, X|J^{\mu}(0)|P, \mathcal{Q}\rangle = \mathcal{Q}RC_{0,\ell}C_{n,\ell}C_q\mathcal{I}_{\text{brane}}P^{\mu},$$
(3.30)

where $C_{n,\ell}$ and C_q are defined in eqs. (3.9) and (3.27) and

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{brane}} = \int_0^1 dw w^{\ell+1} F(-\alpha, 1+\alpha; 2; w) F(-n-\ell-1, n+\ell+2; \ell+2; w).$$
(3.31)

From eq. (3.30) we see that $F_1 = 0$. The structure function F_2 is calculated in the appendix with the result

$$F_{2} = 8\pi^{5} \mathcal{Q}^{2} \frac{\Gamma(2\ell+4)}{\Gamma^{2}(\ell+2)} \frac{\Gamma(n+2\ell+3)}{\Gamma(n+1)} \frac{1}{x} \left(\frac{q^{2}}{4m_{h}^{2}}\right)^{3} \frac{1}{\cosh^{2}(\pi\sqrt{\frac{q^{2}}{4m_{h}^{2}}} - \frac{1}{4})} \\ \times \left\{ \sum_{j=n}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\ell+2+j)\Gamma(j+1)}{(j+1)\Gamma(n+2\ell+4+j)\Gamma(j+1-n)} \prod_{k=1}^{j} \left[\frac{q^{2}}{4m_{h}^{2}k^{2}} + \frac{k-1}{k}\right] \right\}^{2}. (3.32)$$

This expression can be approximated in the regime $x \ll 1$. In this case, as described in the appendix, the above equation reduces to

$$F_2|_{x\ll 1} \approx \pi^5 \mathcal{Q}^2 \frac{(1.27)^2}{2} \Gamma(2\ell+4)(\ell+2)^2 \left(\frac{4m_h^2}{q^2}\right)^{\ell+2} x^{\ell+4}.$$
 (3.33)

Note that in this model $\Delta = \ell + 3$ so that this structure function reproduces the same dependence on q^2 and on x as in the hard wall model of eq. (2.9), in this regime of $x \ll 1$.

We also performed a numerical analysis of the structure function F_2 of eq. (3.32) for different regimes. We found that the dependence on q^2 at leading order, for 0.1 < x < 1, is approximately equal to the hard and soft wall models. In section **4** we present plots of this brane structure function, comparing with the other models, for different regimes of xand q^2 .

4. Comparison of the models

Here we compare our results for the structure function F_2 for D3-D7 brane model with the gauge field in the bulk, eq. (3.21), and on the brane, eq. (3.32), with those of the hard and soft wall models, eqs. (2.9) and (2.12), respectively. Since these models have different parameters representing the infrared cutoff, it is convenient to introduce a dimensionless variable Q identified as $q/2m_h$ in D3-D7 model, q/Λ in the hard wall and $q/2\sqrt{c}$ in the soft wall model.

For Q = 75 we show in figure 1 the dependence of the structure function F_2 with the Bjorken parameter x, in the range $0.25 \le x < 1$, for $\ell = 0, 1, 2$ and 3. Each plot contains the curves for the four models. Note that the D3-D7 bulk structure function coincides with those of the hard and soft wall models, represented by the blue lines. The D3-D7 model with gauge field on the brane is represented in red lines. Note that the maximum of these functions occur in different values of x, indicating a different dependence on this variable. All the structure functions are normalized setting their maximum values to one in each plot. For other values of Q, we found structure functions behaviour similar to that exhibited in figure 1, as long as $Q \gg 1$.

In figure 2 we illustrate the small x behavior of the structure functions. The bulk structure function has a singular behavior which is shown in the first plot. In the second plot, we compare F_2 for the brane (red line) with hard and soft wall (black line). The normalization constants are the same used in figure 1. These plots were obtained using Q = 75 but we found the same behaviour for other values of $Q \gg 1$.

We also studied the dependence of F_2 on Q^2 . In figure 3 we plot $-\ln(F_2(Q)/F_2(Q_0))$ as a function of $\ln(Q^2/Q_0^2)$, for various values of x and ℓ . In the first plot x = 0.5, $Q_0 = 45$, and $\ell = 0, 1, 2$. In this case the structure functions for the four models coincide. Each line in this plot represents a different value of ℓ . This plot shows that the structure functions behaves as $Q^{-2(\ell+2)}$, for this value of x. The second plot corresponds to x = 0.9, $Q_0 = 12$ and $\ell = 0$. In this case the brane is represented by the red line while the others are represented by the blue line. This indicates that the brane structure function decreases slightly faster than the others, that behave as Q^{-4} . For small values of x the behavior of



Figure 1: The structure functions F_2 versus the Bjorken variable x for $\ell = 0, 1, 2, 3$ and Q = 75. The red lines represent the brane results. The blue lines represent the other models.



Figure 2: The structure functions F_2 at small x for $\ell = 0$ and Q = 75. The first plot corresponds to the bulk case (blue). In the second plot the red line represents the brane structure function, while the black line corresponds to the hard and soft wall models.

the bulk structure function is not well described by a power of Q^2 if $Q \gg 1$. This is evident from the highest values of Q in the third plot of figure 3, where x = 0.25 and $Q_0 = 39$.

5. Elastic form factors

Hadronic elastic form factors can also be calculated from the results of the previous section for the gauge field in the bulk and on the brane. These form factors are defined in terms



Figure 3: The Q^2 dependence of the structure functions F_2 for the four models considered. In the first plot, with x = 0.5, $Q_0 = 45$, we have $\ell = 0$ ((blue line), $\ell = 1$ (red line) and $\ell = 2$ (black line). Each line in this plot represents the coinciding results for the four models. In the second plot x = 0.9 $\ell = 0$ and the red line represents the brane case while the blue line represents the other three models. In the third plot, with x = 0.25 and $\ell = 0$, all the structure functions coincide except for the bulk case that oscillates for higher values of Q.

of the matrix element of the hadronic current with the condition n = 0 which corresponds to the elastic regime x = 1. Explicitly, the form factor $F(q^2)$ is defined by

$$\langle P+q, X|J^{\mu}(0)|P, Q\rangle = 2F(q^2)[2P^{\mu}+q^{\mu}].$$
 (5.1)

For the case of the gauge field in the bulk, using eqs. (A.4) and (3.19) we find

$$F(q^{2}) = \frac{Q}{2}\Gamma(2\ell+4)(\ell+2)\left(\frac{4m_{h}^{2}}{q^{2}}\right)^{\ell+2}$$
$$= \frac{Q}{2}\Gamma(2\Delta-2)(\Delta-1)\left(\frac{4m_{h}^{2}}{q^{2}}\right)^{\Delta-1}.$$
(5.2)

Considering now the gauge field on the brane we can calculate the corresponding elastic form factor. As show in the appendix, the result is exactly the same obtained for the gauge field in the bulk. This result has been obtained before in [20] for the D3-D7 model, using different scalar field solutions.

It is interesting to note that these results are also in agreement (at leading order in q^2) with those coming from the hard and soft wall models [25-27].

6. Conclusions

We calculated hadronic deep inelastic structure functions and elastic form factors using the D3-D7 brane model. This model incorporates flavour to AdS/CFT, based on a top-down approach. We have considered two possibilities for the gauge field dual to the hadronic current: a Kaluza Klein gauge field that lives in the AdS bulk and a D7 world-volume gauge field. They correspond to different boundary current operators. In the first case the boundary current is associated with the supersymmetry group SO(4) while in the second case with the flavour symmetry group $U(N_f)$.

For intermediate values of x, the structure functions of the four models considered (gauge field in the bulk, gauge field on the brane, hard and soft wall) present for $\ell = 0, 1, 2$ approximately the same dependence on q^2 : $(q^2)^{1-\Delta}$. For small values of x the bulk structure function has an oscillating behaviour while the other models preserve the same power law dependence. For large values of x and $\ell = 0$ we found a small deviation of the brane structure function from $(q^2)^{1-\Delta}$.

The dependence on the Bjorken variable x was illustrated in figures 1 and 2. We found that for the gauge field in the bulk the structure function behaves as $(1-x)^{\Delta-2}x^{\Delta+1}$ for intermediate values of x, coinciding with the hard and soft wall models. For the gauge field on the brane we find a different behaviour. In particular, the localization of the maximum value of the structure function differs from the other three models. This fact may be related to the different interpretation of the boundary current operators. For the gauge field in the bulk the dual current is related to supersymmetry, as it happens in the hard and soft wall models. This contrasts with the case of the gauge field on the D7-brane where the dual current corresponds to flavour symmetry.

We considered in this article massless D7 scalar fields. This leads to a relation between the conformal dimension Δ of the hadronic operator and the angular quantum number on S^3 : $\Delta = \ell + 3$. Another different and interesting possibility would be to consider Δ to be independent of ℓ . If we follow this approach, an eight dimensional mass for the D7 scalar field would be necessary. In this case the supergravity approximation, used in this work, would be valid only for the regime $x \gg (\sqrt{gN_c})^{-1}$, so that the eight dimensional mass would be negligible with respect to the string scale $1/\sqrt{\alpha'}$. This approach would be analogous to that considered, for ten dimensional scalar fields, when studying DIS in the hard and soft wall models.

Acknowledgments

We thank David Mateos for important discussions. The authors are partially supported by CLAF, CNPq and FAPERJ. N.R.F.B. thanks the Institute for Nuclear Theory at the University of Washington for kind hospitality and the U.S. Department of Energy for partial support during the completion of this work.

A. Calculations of the structure functions and form factors

A.1 Gauge field in the bulk

Here we present an approximation for the integral $\mathcal{I}_{\text{bulk}}$ of eq. (3.20) valid for $x \to 1$ and $q^2 \gg m_h^2$. Using the property

$$F(-n-\ell-1,-n+\ell+2;\ell+2;1-v^2) = v^{2(n+\ell+1)}F\left(-n-\ell-1,-n;\ell+2;1-\frac{1}{v^2}\right)$$

and expanding the hypergeometric function one finds

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{bulk}} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \frac{(-n-\ell-1)_i \ (-n)_i}{(\ell+2)_i \ i!} \ (-1)^i \ \mathcal{I}_i, \tag{A.1}$$

where $(a)_i$ is the Pochhammer symbol and

$$\mathcal{I}_{i} = \int_{0}^{1} dv \; v^{2(n+\ell+2-i)} \; (1-v^{2})^{\ell+1+i} \; K_{1}\left(\frac{q}{m_{h}}v\right). \tag{A.2}$$

Near the elastic limit we have $q^2/m_h^2 \gg n^2$. In this case the integrand decreases rapidly, because of the Bessel function K_1 , and the relevant contribution to the integral comes from the region $0 \le v \le m_h/q$. Then we can use the approximation $(1 - v^2)^{\ell+1+i} \approx 1$ in the integrand and the integral domain can be extended to $0 \le v < \infty$

$$\mathcal{I}_{i} \approx \int_{0}^{\infty} dv \ v^{2(n+\ell+2-i)} \ K_{1}\left(\frac{q}{m_{h}}v\right) \\ = \frac{1}{4}\left(\frac{2m_{h}}{q}\right)^{2n+2\ell+5-2i} \Gamma(n+\ell+3-i)\Gamma(n+\ell+2-i).$$
(A.3)

Substituting this result in the $\mathcal{I}_{\text{bulk}}$ integral and using the property

$$(-a)_i = (-1)^i \frac{\Gamma(a+1)}{\Gamma(a+1-i)}$$

one finds

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{bulk}} = \left(\frac{2m_h}{q}\right)^{2n+2\ell+5} \frac{\Gamma(n+\ell+3)}{4} \Gamma(n+\ell+2) \, {}_1F_2 \left(-n;\ell+2,-n-\ell-2;-\frac{q^2}{4m_h^2}\right), \tag{A.4}$$

where ${}_{1}F_{2}(a; b, c; z)$ is another hypergeometric function. Then, using this result in eq. (3.21) we find an approximation for the structure function near the elastic limit

$$F_{2} = 8\pi^{3} \mathcal{Q}^{2} \frac{\Gamma(2\ell+4)}{\Gamma^{4}(\ell+2)} \frac{\Gamma(n+2\ell+3)}{\Gamma(n+1)} \left(\frac{q^{2}}{4m_{h}^{2}}\right)^{-2n-2\ell-3} \frac{1}{x} \cdot \left(\Gamma(n+\ell+3) \Gamma(n+\ell+2) {}_{1}F_{2}(-n;\ell+2,-n-\ell-2;-\frac{q^{2}}{4m_{h}^{2}})\right)^{2}.$$
 (A.5)

Taking just the dominant term of the hypergeometric function we find that, for $x \to 1$

$$F_2 \sim \left(\frac{4m_h^2}{q^2}\right)^{\ell+2} (1-x)^{\ell+1} = \left(\frac{4m_h^2}{q^2}\right)^{\Delta-1} (1-x)^{\Delta-2}.$$
 (A.6)

A.2 Gauge field on the brane

Using eqs. (3.30), (3.31) and the relation

$$\Gamma(2+\alpha)\Gamma(1-\alpha) = \frac{\pi q^2}{4m_h^2 \cosh(\pi \sqrt{\frac{q^2}{4m_h^2} - \frac{1}{4}})},$$
(A.7)

the structure functions can be written as

$$F_1 = 0; \ F_2 = 8\pi^5 \mathcal{Q}^2 \frac{\Gamma(2\ell+4)}{\Gamma^4(\ell+2)} \frac{\Gamma(n+2\ell+3)}{\Gamma(n+1)} \left(\frac{q^2}{4m_h^2}\right)^3 \frac{1}{\cosh^2(\pi\sqrt{\frac{q^2}{4m_h^2} - \frac{1}{4}})} \frac{\mathcal{I}_{\text{brane}}^2}{x} .$$
(A.8)

In order to evaluate $\mathcal{I}_{\text{brane}}$ we use the identity

$$F(n-\ell-1, n+\ell+2; \ell+2; w) = (1-w)^{n+\ell+1} F(n-\ell-1, -n; \ell+2; \frac{w}{w-1})$$
(A.9)

and expand both hypergeometric functions. Then, we can perform the integral and find

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{brane}} = \Gamma(n+\ell+2) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\alpha)_j (1+\alpha)_j \Gamma(\ell+2+j)}{(2)_j j! \Gamma(n+2\ell+4+j)} \sum_{i=0}^n \frac{(-n)_i (\ell+2+j)_i}{(\ell+2)_i i!}$$
$$= (-1)^n \Gamma(\ell+2) \sum_{j=n}^{\infty} \frac{(-\alpha)_j (1+\alpha)_j \Gamma(\ell+2+j) \Gamma(j+1)}{(j!)^2 (j+1) \Gamma(n+2\ell+4+j) \Gamma(j+1-n)}.$$
(A.10)

This sum can be expressed in terms of real variables by using the relation

$$\frac{(-\alpha)_j(1+\alpha)_j}{(j!)^2} = \prod_{k=1}^j \left[\frac{(-\alpha)(1+\alpha)}{k^2} + \frac{k-1}{k} \right] = \prod_{k=1}^j \left[\frac{q^2}{4m_h^2 k^2} + \frac{k-1}{k} \right].$$
 (A.11)

So that, the structure function takes the form

$$F_{2} = 8\pi^{5} \mathcal{Q}^{2} \frac{\Gamma(2\ell+4)}{\Gamma^{2}(\ell+2)} \frac{\Gamma(n+2\ell+3)}{\Gamma(n+1)} \frac{1}{x} \left(\frac{q^{2}}{4m_{h}^{2}}\right)^{3} \frac{1}{\cosh^{2}(\pi\sqrt{\frac{q^{2}}{4m_{h}^{2}}} - \frac{1}{4})} \\ \times \left\{ \sum_{j=n}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\ell+2+j)\Gamma(j+1)}{(j+1)\Gamma(n+2\ell+4+j)\Gamma(j+1-n)} \prod_{k=1}^{j} \left[\frac{q^{2}}{4m_{h}^{2}k^{2}} + \frac{k-1}{k}\right] \right\}^{2}.$$
(A.12)

Approximation for $x \ll 1$. It is possible to approximate the sum above in the regime of $n^2 \gg q^2/4m_h^2$, which means $x \ll 1$. In this case the above equation reduces to

$$\prod_{k=1}^{j} \left[\frac{q^2}{4m_h^2 k^2} + \frac{k-1}{k} \right] \approx \frac{1}{4j} \prod_{k=2}^{j} \left[\frac{(2k-1)^2}{4k(k-1)} \right] \prod_{k'=1}^{j} \left[1 + \frac{q^2}{m_h^2 (2k'-1)^2} \right] \\
\approx \frac{1.27}{4j} \cosh\left(\frac{\pi q}{2m_h}\right),$$
(A.13)

which is valid since $j \ge n$ is very large. Substituting this result in eq. (A.10), one finds

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{brane}} \approx (-1)^n \frac{1.27}{4} \Gamma(\ell+2) \Gamma(\ell+3) \frac{\Gamma(n-1)}{\Gamma(n+2\ell+5)} \cosh\left(\frac{\pi q}{2m_h}\right) , \qquad (A.14)$$

and then the structure function reads

$$F_2|_{x\ll 1} \approx \pi^5 \mathcal{Q}^2 \frac{(1.27)^2}{2} \Gamma(2\ell+4)(\ell+2)^2 \left(\frac{4m_h^2}{q^2}\right)^{\ell+2} x^{\ell+4}.$$
 (A.15)

Elastic form factor. We have to work out the sum in eq. (A.10) for the case n = 0:

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{brane}}^{(n=0)} = \frac{\Gamma(\ell+2)}{\Gamma(2\ell+4)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\alpha)_j (1+\alpha)_j (j+2)_\ell}{j! (2\ell+4)_j} \\ = \frac{\Gamma(\ell+2)}{\Gamma(2\ell+4)} \left\{ \frac{d^\ell}{dt^\ell} [F(-\alpha, 1+\alpha; 2\ell+4; t)t^{\ell+1}] \right\}_{t=1}.$$
 (A.16)

Using the property

$$\frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}}F(a,b;c;t) = \frac{(a)_{\ell}(b)_{\ell}}{(c)_{\ell}}F(a+\ell,b+\ell;c+\ell;t),$$
(A.17)

we find

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{\text{brane}}^{(n=0)} &= \frac{\Gamma^2(\ell+2)\Gamma(\ell+1)}{\Gamma(2\ell+4)} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell} \left[\frac{1}{k!\Gamma(\ell+1-k)\Gamma(\ell+2-k)} \frac{(-\alpha)_{\ell-k}(1+\alpha)_{\ell-k}}{(2\ell+4)_{\ell-k}} \right. \\ &\quad \left. \times F(-\alpha+\ell-k,1+\alpha+\ell-k;3\ell+4-k;1) \right] \\ &= \frac{\Gamma^2(\ell+2)\Gamma(\ell+1)}{\Gamma(-\alpha)\Gamma(1+\alpha)} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell} \frac{\Gamma(\ell+3+k)}{k!\Gamma(\ell+1-k)\Gamma(\ell+2-k)} \left[\prod_{k'=\ell+1-k}^{2\ell+3} \left[\frac{q^2}{4m_h^2} + k'(k'-1) \right] \right]^{-1}. \end{aligned}$$
(A.18)

The relevant term in the sum, for $q^2 \gg m_h^2$, is k = 0. Using eq. (3.30) we find

$$F(q^{2}) = \frac{Q}{2}\Gamma(2\ell+4)(\ell+2)\left(\frac{4m_{h}^{2}}{q^{2}}\right)^{\ell+2}$$
$$= \frac{Q}{2}\Gamma(2\Delta-2)(\Delta-1)\left(\frac{4m_{h}^{2}}{q^{2}}\right)^{\Delta-1}.$$
(A.19)

References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113] [hep-th/9711200].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from non-critical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109].
- [3] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150].

- [4] J. Polchinski and M.J. Strassler, Hard scattering and gauge/string duality, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002) 031601 [hep-th/0109174].
- [5] H. Boschi-Filho and N.R.F. Braga, QCD/string holographic mapping and high energy scattering amplitudes, Phys. Lett. B 560 (2003) 232 [hep-th/0207071].
- [6] M.B. Green, J.H. Schwarz and E. Witten, Superstring theory. Vol. 1: introduction, Cambridge Monographs On Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge UK (1987).
- [7] V.A. Matveev, R.M. Muradian and A.N. Tavkhelidze, Automodellism in the large-angle elastic scattering and structure of hadrons., Lett. Nuovo Cim. 7 (1973) 719.
- [8] S.J. Brodsky and G.R. Farrar, Scaling laws at large transverse momentum, Phys. Rev. Lett. 31 (1973) 1153; Scaling laws for large momentum transfer processes, Phys. Rev. D 11 (1975) 1309.
- H. Boschi-Filho and N.R.F. Braga, QCD/string holographic mapping and glueball mass spectrum, Eur. Phys. J. C 32 (2004) 529 [hep-th/0209080].
- [10] H. Boschi-Filho and N.R.F. Braga, Gauge/string duality and scalar glueball mass ratios, JHEP 05 (2003) 009 [hep-th/0212207].
- [11] G.F. de Teramond and S.J. Brodsky, The hadronic spectrum of a holographic dual of QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 201601 [hep-th/0501022].
- [12] J. Erlich, E. Katz, D.T. Son and M.A. Stephanov, QCD and a holographic model of hadrons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 261602 [hep-ph/0501128].
- [13] L. Da Rold and A. Pomarol, Chiral symmetry breaking from five dimensional spaces, Nucl. Phys. B 721 (2005) 79 [hep-ph/0501218].
- [14] H. Boschi-Filho, N.R.F. Braga and H.L. Carrion, Glueball Regge trajectories from gauge/string duality and the Pomeron, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 047901 [hep-th/0507063].
- [15] A. Karch, E. Katz, D.T. Son and M.A. Stephanov, *Linear confinement and AdS/QCD*, *Phys. Rev.* D 74 (2006) 015005 [hep-ph/0602229].
- [16] P. Colangelo, F. De Fazio, F. Jugeau and S. Nicotri, On the light glueball spectrum in a holographic description of QCD, Phys. Lett. B 652 (2007) 73 [hep-ph/0703316].
- [17] P. Colangelo, F. De Fazio, F. Giannuzzi, F. Jugeau and S. Nicotri, Light scalar mesons in the soft-wall model of AdS/QCD, arXiv:0807.1054.
- [18] A. Karch and E. Katz, Adding flavor to AdS/CFT, JHEP 06 (2002) 043 [hep-th/0205236].
- [19] M. Kruczenski, D. Mateos, R.C. Myers and D.J. Winters, Meson spectroscopy in AdS/CFT with flavour, JHEP 07 (2003) 049 [hep-th/0304032].
- [20] S. Hong, S. Yoon and M.J. Strassler, Quarkonium from the fifth dimension, JHEP 04 (2004) 046 [hep-th/0312071].
- [21] J. Erdmenger, N. Evans, I. Kirsch and E. Threlfall, Mesons in Gauge/Gravity Duals A Review, Eur. Phys. J. A35 (2008) 81 [arXiv:0711.4467].
- [22] J. Polchinski and M.J. Strassler, Deep inelastic scattering and gauge/string duality, JHEP 05 (2003) 012 [hep-th/0209211].

- [23] C.A. Ballon Bayona, H. Boschi-Filho and N.R.F. Braga, Deep inelastic scattering from gauge string duality in the soft wall model, JHEP 03 (2008) 064 [arXiv:0711.0221].
- [24] For a review see, A.V. Manohar, An introduction to spin dependent deep inelastic scattering, 7th Lake Louise Winter Institute, Symmetry and spin in the standard model, Campbell et al. eds. (1992), pg. 1–46 [hep-ph/9204208].
- [25] H.R. Grigoryan and A.V. Radyushkin, Form Factors and Wave Functions of Vector Mesons in Holographic QCD, Phys. Lett. B 650 (2007) 421 [hep-ph/0703069].
- [26] H.R. Grigoryan and A.V. Radyushkin, Structure of Vector Mesons in Holographic Model with Linear Confinement, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 095007 [arXiv:0706.1543].
- [27] S.J. Brodsky and G.F. de Teramond, Light-front dynamics and AdS/QCD correspondence: the Pion form factor in the space- and time-like regions, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 056007 [arXiv:0707.3859].
- [28] H.J. Kwee and R.F. Lebed, Pion form factor in improved holographic QCD backgrounds, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 115007 [arXiv:0712.1811].
- [29] C.A. Ballon Bayona, H. Boschi-Filho and N.R.F. Braga, *Deep inelastic structure functions from supergravity at small x*, arXiv:0712.3530.
- [30] L. Cornalba and M.S. Costa, Saturation in deep inelastic scattering from AdS/CFT, arXiv:0804.1562.
- [31] Y. Hatta and T. Matsuo, Jet fragmentation and gauge/string duality, arXiv:0804.4733.
- [32] B. Pire, C. Roiesnel, L. Szymanowski and S. Wallon, On AdS/QCD correspondence and the partonic picture of deep inelastic scattering, arXiv:0805.4346.
- [33] J.L. Albacete, Y.V. Kovchegov and A. Taliotis, DIS on a large nucleus in AdS/CFT, JHEP 07 (2008) 074 [arXiv:0806.1484].
- [34] Y. Hatta and T. Matsuo, Thermal hadron spectrum in e^+e^- annihilation from gauge/string duality, arXiv:0807.0098.
- [35] D. Rodriguez-Gomez and J. Ward, *Electromagnetic form factors from the fifth dimension*, arXiv:0803.3475.